A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. In Kevin Hubbard's trial on three charges of attempted first 

degree murder by shooting, the State's chief witness, James "Jesse" 

Henderson, testified without swearing to tell the truth in court. 

2. The trial court erroneously permitted a police detective, who 

was not an expert and whose testimony was without foundation, to 

testify regarding his analysis of cell phone tower location data to 

track the whereabouts of individuals' cell phones. 

3. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Hubbard's request to 

present evidence of other suspects. 

4. The trial court erroneously instructed the jury on accomplice 

liability, for which the evidence was insufficient to warrant the 

instruction, or to support guilt. 

5. The trial court erred in ruling that the offense of first degree 

assault categorically could not be a lesser offense of attempted 

murder, and in refusing Mr. Hubbard's request that the jury be 

instructed on assault as a lesser crime. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Evidence Rule 603, the Fourteenth Amendment's Due 

Process clause, and the State Constitution require that witnesses 
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swear to tell the truth. When the State's chief accusing witness, 

James "Jesse" Henderson, testified without swearing to tell the truth 

in court, was this manifest constitutional error under RAP 2.5(a)? 

Does the error require reversal where Henderson's testimony was 

essential to the State's case? 

2. Detective James Hughey was not an expert on the analysis 

of cell phone tower records and their supposedly reliable use to 

locate the positions of cell phones, and therefore the locations and 

path of travel of the defendant and James Henderson after the 

shooting. Was the detective erroneously permitted to testify where 

he was not an expert, and his testimony was without foundation? 

Where this evidence was used to contradict Mr. Hubbard's account 

of his conduct on the night of the shooting, and to support the claims 

of the State's key witness, James Henderson, is reversal required? 

3. Mr. Hubbard would have been able to elicit admissible 

evidence that a third person, known as "UI Hev," had the opportunity 

and the motive to commit the offenses. Did the court err and violate 

Mr. Hubbard's right to present a defense by excluding this evidence? 

4. The State's opening statement asserted that the 

prosecution would prove that Kevin Hubbard was the person in the 
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grainy security video who appeared to be perpetrating the shooting 

of the three victims. Then, in closing argument the State contended 

that Mr. Hubbard could be found guilty, as an accomplice, if the jury 

believed he was the other person in the video, who runs away when 

the shooting commences. Where this person did nothing more than 

be present at the time of the crime, was the jury erroneously 

instructed on accomplice liability, in the absence of evidence 

adequate to merit the instruction, and is reversal required where the 

evidence was insufficient to convict under that theory of guilt? 

5. The question whether an offense is legally a lesser

included crime of a greater offense must be assessed based on how 

the greater offense was charged and purported to be proved. Did 

the trial court err in ruling that the offense of first degree assault 

categorically could not be a lesser offense of attempted murder? 

Where the jury could rationally have concluded that the shooter only 

intended to cause great bodily harm, should the jury have been 

instructed on first degree assault on all three counts? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Shooting incident. On January 28, 2012, Seattle Police 

officers responding to calls to 911 arrived at a parking lot across the 
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street from the Citrus Lounge, a nightclub in the south Lake Union 

area. 6RP 673,679-87,719. A large crowd, mostly of patrons from 

the Lounge, was gathered around the area of three apparent 

gunshot victims lying on the ground in the parking lot of the Fred 

Hutchinson Cancer Center. 6RP 673,679, 682-87; 7RP 846, 851 . 

The persons who were shot were three young African-American 

males -- Zealand Adams, Rommie Bone, and Daniel Wilson; they 

were transported to Harborview Medical Center where they survived, 

with serious injuries. 7RP 860-867; 12RP 1473-77; 16RP 1942. 

Officers investigating the shooting discovered that several 

vehicles in the parking lot, including victim Zealand Adams' Dodge 

Magnum, had bullet holes in them, and numerous shell casings were 

recovered from the ground. The shell casings indicated that the 

three injured men had been shot with an assault rifle. In addition, 

other spent shells showed that one or more of the victims had also 

been firing handguns. 7RP 798, 801. Some time after the shooting, 

when emergency personnel had already responded, a man in a 

white T-shirt was seen searching under the Dodge Magnum, and 

then throwing a handgun into the bushes. 11 RP 1279-78. One of 

the responding police detectives found two handguns inside that 
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vehicle, a .40 caliber and a 9mm Desert Eagle. 13RP 1681, 1693. 

2. Security videotapes. The crowd from the Citrus Lounge 

was uncooperative, and police could not determine how the gun 

battle had started . However, security videotapes from the Citrus 

Lounge and the nearby Cancer Center were obtained . 9RP 1076, 

1099-1100. The videos appeared to show the shooting incident in 

footage that was grainy and indistinct, and in which the only 

individuals who could be reliably identified were the shooting victims, 

who observed and identified themselves on the tapes later in the 

investigation. 19RP 2386-91. 

The Cancer Center videos appear to show two people 

involved in the lead-up to the assault rifle shooting. Although they 

could not be identified, they appeared to be males. 19RP 2391-95. 

The video appeared to show these two individuals exit a white Lexus 

SUV, and walk northbound on Yale Avenue N. toward the area of the 

Dodge Magnum. The two persons seem to stop near a retaining wall 

with bushes on it, adjacent to where the Dodge is parked. After 

Rommie Bone is seen entering the Dodge, and Wilson and Adams 

are seen walking up to it, one of the persons appears to be aiming a 

rifle at the victims and shooting. 19RP 2396-99. 
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Just as the shooting commences, the other person, who does 

not have a firearm, walks and then runs southbound out of the area, 

while the perpetrator remains. Several police officers testified that 

the location of many of the bullet casings, and the nature of the bullet 

damage, showed that the shooter was moving as if to aim 

purposefully at the individuals. 6RP 719, 728-31; 11 RP 1323, 1346-

53. However, a number of witnesses indicated that the crowd at the 

scene, and the responding emergency personnel, kicked a lot of the 

physical evidence around the parking lot before it could be located 

and mapped. 11 RP 1236, 1245. One police officer referred to the 

medical personnel as the "crime scene destruction team." 16RP 

2045. 

An additional video from the Cancer Center, from some 

minutes earlier, appeared to show the two persons arriving at the 

parking lot, in a white four-door SUV, and then stepping out of that 

vehicle and walking toward the area of the shooting. The driver 

appears to retrieve something from the vehicle after he exits it and 

before walking toward where the shooting occurs. 20RP 2489-90. 

3. The Citrus Lounge. Managers and employees of the 

Citrus Lounge indicated that there had been a large fight in the bar 
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area of the Lounge in the time prior to the shooting incident outside. 

10RP 1195-98. However, the fight apparently involved a group of 

older men in the bar. 11 RP 1268. The Citrus manager confirmed 

that the fighting involved older gentleman, one of whom was 

harassing a coat check girl. 13RP 1542-51. A security videotape 

from the interior of the Citrus Lounge appeared to show some minor 

physical altercation near the doorway preceding the shootings. It 

appeared someone was briefly punched. 13RP 1577-78; 20RP 

2477. Kevin Hubbard explained to police, when he was interrogated 

some months later by Seattle police detective Benjamin Hughey, that 

he had been punched randomly by a Citrus patron after a scuffle had 

broken out. 23RP 2763-64. 

Kevin had arrived at the Citrus with an acquaintance, James 

"Jesse" Henderson, who he had driven to the Citrus Lounge in a 

borrowed white four-door Lexus SUV. 23RP 2762-63. After this 

minor scuffle, Kevin left the Citrus Lounge and drove down to 

Tacoma, where the mother of his child was giving birth. While at the 

hospital, Kevin heard about the shooting from her, and from friends 

who had been at the Citrus. 23RP 2764-65. 

During the investigation revealed in the affidavit of probable 
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cause, Zealand Adams told Detective Hughey that there had been 

an altercation in the Citrus Lounge's bar area that evening, including 

punches and a chair being thrown, and afterward he and his two 

friends were shot by an unknown male with an assault rifle. CP 8. 

However, Zealand Adams did not testify at trial. It turned out that 

Adams' DNA was located on a Hi-Point pistol, which was yet another 

handgun found at the scene of the shooting, and may have been the 

one seen being tossed away from under the Dodge Magnum. 13RP 

1611. Rommie Bone testified he had no idea who fired the rifle. 

3RP 321. 

Daniel Wilson told the jury that he and his friends went to the 

Citrus Lounge nightclub after being at Freddie's Casino. At some 

point he got in trouble with the bouncer. When he, Adams, and Bone 

walked out to Adams' Dodge Magnum, they were shot, and all he 

saw was a muzzle flash. 8RP 889,933-337. Daniel Wilson did not 

know, and had never met, the defendant Kevin Hubbard. 8RP 952. 

Khris Wilson, Daniel's brother, confirmed that Daniel was 

involved in some commotion at the Citrus Lounge bar, and then was 

told by the bouncer to leave. 8RP 982, 998-1005. 

4. Investigation and trial. Detective Hughey was told by 
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Khris, who was also a witness to the events, that he had heard on 

the street that one of the shooters might be a person with the 

nickname "8-12," who the detective knew from his gang unit work to 

be 8enjamin Palmer. CP 8-9. Zealand Adams did not pick Palmer 

from a montage he was shown. However, Adams, Daniel Wilson, 

and Khris Wilson had also heard that a person who went by the 

name "Lil Hev" was the shooter. CP 9. When shown a photo of this 

individual, one Daunte Williams, victim Adams thought that he 

recognized this person as one of the shooters. Daniel Wilson 

confirmed his belief that this person was at the Citrus Lounge that 

night. CP 9. However, the court denied Mr. Hubbard's effort to bring 

in "other suspect" evidence at his trial. CP 138-42; 2RP 230-32. 

Later in the investigation, a confidential informant stated that 

the shooters were James Henderson and Kevin Hubbard, and the 

police determined that this was the route of investigation they would 

follow. 13RP 1663-64. 

Some months after the shooting, an AK-47 rifle, that had been 

purchased as part of a federal gun investigation called Operation 

Used Car, was transferred to the Seattle Police. Forensic analysts 

determined that it had been the gun used to fire the multiple rifle 
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bullets in the parking lot. 12RP 1457-58; 13RP 1645-50. Police 

arrested Joshua Dawson and James "Jesse" Henderson in 

connection with the rifle. 12RP 1467-71. 

Henderson was arrested as part of a federal investigation on 

April 17, 2012. Detective Hughey arranged to interrogate him 

regarding the Citrus Lounge incident, and told Henderson that he 

had been connected to the incident via the rifle. After being told that 

he was facing 90 years in prison, Henderson stated that he was one 

of the two persons visible in the security video footage, and asserted 

that Kevin Hubbard was the other person. 14RP 1822, 1832; 14RP 

1817; 21 RP 2620-23. According to Henderson's story, and the later 

trial testimony that secured a misdemeanor conviction for him 

instead of 90 years, Mr. Hubbard had driven Henderson to Seattle, 

and there had been fighting just before the shooting, inside the 

Lounge. 14RP 18-32-33. After the scuffle at the Citrus, Henderson 

claimed, he and Hubbard drove the Lexus SUV across the street, 

and Kevin Hubbard allegedly took an assault rifle from the car, which 

he used to shoot at Wilson, Adams, and Bone. Henderson then 

claimed that he and Hubbard had driven southbound out of the area 

after the shooting. 21 RP 2636-45. 
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The prosecution also relied on a recording taken by a 

confidential informant ("CI") outside a nightclub called BB Magraws, 

in which Henderson told the CI that the Citrus Lounge shooter was 

the person inside. Surveillance detectives said that Henderson was 

referring to Kevin Hubbard. 13RP 1669-73; 14RP 1799-1802; 21RP 

2570-77; Supp. CP _, Sub # 116 (Exhibit list - Exhibit 57). On 

cross-examination, Henderson said that he never indicated to the CI 

that he was saying Kevin Hubbard was the shooter. 14RP 1832-33. 

In fact, Detective Hughey was compelled to reveal that the CI told 

him that Mr. Henderson told him that he had "pulled out a firearm 

and shot down three or four people with a whole bunch of bullets." 

23RP 2753. 

Later, after arresting Kevin Hubbard, Detective Hughey 

interrogated him. The detective told Kevin that his DNA was on the 

assault rifle that police had located. 23RP 2771; see State's exhibit 

105 (transcript of interrogation). In fact, the forensic DNA analyst 

would later testify at trial that all she could say was that Mr. Hubbard 

could not be eliminated from a hypothetical group of 50 percent of 

the entire population, any of whom could also not be eliminated as 

having left minor DNA trace evidence on the rifle. 13RP 1580, 1604-
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18. Neither Joshua Dawson, nor Henderson nor "UI Hev" was ever 

tested to determine if their DNA was on the rifle. 13RP 1637. 

Kevin, who said that he did know James Henderson, told 

Detective Hughey that he must have been around the rifle at some 

point, but he had nothing to do with the shooting. 23RP 2768, 2771 . 

Kevin readily admitted that while he was in the Citrus Lounge, 

someone had tried to rip his friend Kennan's gold chain off his neck, 

and this person tried to punch him. 23RP 2764; Exhibit 105, at p. 19. 

Kevin thought it was weak that a big guy would try to do that, and 

determined he should just leave. 23RP 2766; Exhibit 105, at pp. 19-

22. He went straight to his Lexus and left for Tacoma alone. 23RP 

2767; Exhibit 105, at pp. 21-23. 

Detective Hughey challenged Kevin Hubbard with cell tower 

evidence that he said proved he had Henderson with him in his car 

when he drove south. 23RP 2771 . Kevin stated that Mr. Henderson 

may have left his phone in Kevin's car. 23RP 2771. This cell tower 

testimony was also admitted at trial. 20RP 2506; 21 RP 2560. 

However, Hughey had no specialized knowledge about the process 

of using cell tower signals to determine the location of a cell phone, 

but, over objection, he was allowed to testify that the locations of 
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Henderson's and Hubbard's cell phones showed that they traveled 

southbound from Seattle in the same vehicle. 26RP 1996. 

At the close of the case, the trial court agreed with the 

prosecutor that first degree assault categorically could not be a 

lesser offense of attempted murder, and declined to instruct the jury 

on that offense as to the counts. 22RP 2706. Kevin Hubbard was 

found guilty of three counts of attempted first degree murder, and 

with attached firearm enhancements, he was sentenced to 913.25 

months, or approximately 76 years imprisonment. CP 424. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. KEVIN HUBBARD'S CONVICTIONS MUST BE 
REVERSED WHERE THE STATE'S CHIEF 
WITNESS, WHO ACCUSED KEVIN OF BEING THE 
SHOOTER AND RECEIVED A MISDEMEANOR 
CONVICTION FOR HIS TESTIMONY, WAS NOT 
SWORN TO TELL THE TRUTH AT TRIAL. 

a. The State's chief witness, James Henderson, was not 

sworn to tell the truth, a constitutional error which may be 

raised on appeal. The trial court failed to obtain a proper oath to tell 

the truth in the courtroom from witness James "Jesse" Henderson, 

and violated Washington's Court Rules and the state and federal 

constitutions. ER 603; U.S. Const. amend. 14; Wash. Const. art. 1, 

section 3, section 6. As a matter of court rule, ER 603 requires that 
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witnesses be sworn by an oath in which the witness promises to 

testify truthfully: 

Evidence Rule 603. OATH OR AFFIRMATION 

Before testifying, every witness shall be required to 
declare that the witness will testify truthfully, by oath or 
affirmation administered in a form calculated to awaken 
the witness' conscience and impress the witness' mind 
with the duty to do so. 

ER 603. However, James Henderson was not sworn to tell the truth 

in the tribunal prior to his testimony. The verbatim report of 

proceedings of October 22, 2013 states, prior to Henderson's direct 

examination by the State: "(The witness was not sworn in on the 

record)". 14RP 1717. This was Mr. Henderson's testimony before 

the jury. 14RP 1716. Other trial witnesses were properly sworn. 1 

Mr. Hubbard may appeal because the absence of a proper 

oath obtained by the court under the requirements of ER 603 and 

constitutional guarantees, was manifest constitutional error under 

RAP 2.5(a)(3). See U.S. Const. amend. 14 (providing that no state 

1 The court reporters' practice in this case was to indicate in the transcript 
when the witness was sworn. Thus the following appears before the testimony of 
the State's first trial witness, a police officer: 

BRADLEY RICHARDSON: Witness herein, having first been 
duly sworn on oath, was examined and 
testified as follows : 

6RP 673. The same court reporter for Mr. Henderson's testimony that indicated he 
was not sworn, reported that the next witness was sworn, in the manner above. 
15RP 1885 (witness Kelli Anderson). 
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shall "deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due 

process of law"); Wash. Const. art. 1, section 3 (our state's 

guarantee of Due Process). Further, the State Constitution 

specifically provides at Article 1, section 6: 

The mode of administering an oath, or affirmation, shall 
be such as may be most consistent with and binding 
upon the conscience of the person to whom the oath, 
or affirmation, may be administered. 

Wash. Const. art. 1, section 6. Here, the failure to obtain an oath, 

given the centrality of James Henderson's testimony, was a violation 

of the guarantee of the basic fairness of the proceeding under Due 

Process and the foregoing provisions of Washington's Constitution. 

This constitutional error became manifest and appealable when the 

court did not obtain an oath from this witness, but Henderson was 

allowed to testify nonetheless. RAP 2.5(a)(3); In re M.B., 101 Wn. 

App. 425,3 P.3d 780, review denied, 142 Wn.2d 1027 (2000). It 

also requires reversal of Mr. Hubbard's convictions. 

For example, in the case of In re M.B., the Court of Appeals 

held that the entry of a contempt order against an accused juvenile, 

on the basis of statements from an unsworn witness, violated the 

evidence rules and the right to due process of law under the 

Fourteenth Amendment. Regarding appealability, the Court stated: 
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"RT.'s counsel did not object to the unsworn testimony. We 

nonetheless review this issue under the manifest constitutional error 

doctrine." The Court therefore reached the issue. In re M.s., 101 

Wn. App. at 425 (citing RAP 2.5(a)(3) and State v. Lynn, 67 Wn. 

App. 339, 346,835 P.2d 251 (1992) (to be manifest, error must be 

the type that causes identifiable prejudice)). 

Similarly, the Court of Appeals in State v. Avila, 78 Wn. App. 

731, 735, 899 P.2d 11 (1995), although not finding manifest error, 

stated that the failure to administer a proper oath to a child witness 

violated ER 603, and the Court left open the possibility that testimony 

in the absence of a proper oath could also be error that is not just 

constitutional, but also manifest, where the record demonstrates 

identifiable prejudice as required by State v. Lynn. Avila, 78 Wn. 

App. at 735. 

That standard is met in this case. For comparison, the Avila 

Court stated that Mr. Avila had not shown the prerequisite 

demonstrable prejudice, where the record allowed the reviewing 

court to be confident that the failure to obtain a proper oath from the 

witness did not affect the outcome. Avila, 78 Wn. App. at 738-39; 

Lynn, 67 Wn. App. at 345 ("manifest" constitutional error is error that 
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shows practical and identifiable consequences in the record) . Those 

assurances in Avila included the testimony of a witness who had 

seen the victim, a child, sitting on the defendant's lap in a room while 

the defendant watched an R-rated movie and had his hand on the 

child's thigh, the fact that the child stated to the interview specialist 

that she had been abused, and the child's "statement at the pretrial 

hearing that she understood it was important to tell the judge the 

truth" in the bench trial. Avila, 78 Wn. App. at 738-39. 

No similar assurances are present in the record of this case. 

The security videocamera footage did not allow the persons involved

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