NO. 71449-0

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

KEVIN HUBBARD,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE KEN SCHUBERT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JENNIFER JOSEPH Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000

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

b. The Evidence Admitted.

During Detective Hughey's investigation, he obtained phone numbers for three suspects: Henderson, Hubbard, and Daunte

Williams ("Li'l Hev"). CP 10. Hughey served search warrants for the cell phone records associated with each of these numbers. CP 10; 20RP 2507-08. The cell phone companies provided records of call logs, numbers called, ingoing and outgoing calls, duration, time/date stamp of the call, and the cell phone towers that were activated at the beginning and end of each call. 20RP 2507-08, 2518-19. Records from Sprint designated each cell phone tower by number and provided a "decipher key" containing an exact physical address of each tower. 20RP 2511. The T-Mobile records provided the same information, including a decipher key, in a slightly different format. 20RP 2519; Ex. 92, 93.

Detective Hughey created Excel spreadsheets to summarize the relevant information from the cell phone records. 20RP 2514-15. He annotated this information by supplying the names associated with the phone numbers in the call log, which he obtained from the contact list in Hubbard's phone, and the exact

⁷ Hubbard objected to admission of the cell phone records on grounds that are unclear from the record. 20RP 2515. On appeal, he asserts without analysis or citation to authority that "[m]uch of the information [Hughey] related to the jury was without foundation as hearsay, and thus inadmissible under ER 801 and 802." Brief of Appellant at 25. However, Hubbard did not clearly object on hearsay grounds and does not assign error to admission of these business records. "A party may assign evidentiary error on appeal only on a specific ground made at trial." State v. Bradford, 175 Wn. App. 912, 928 n.8, 308 P.3d 736 (2013) (quoting State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 926, 155 P.3d 125 (2007)). Challenges on any other basis are not preserved. Id.

addresses of the towers, which were provided by the cell phone companies. 20RP 2514-15, 2749. Hughey then plotted the addresses of those towers on a Google map to visually depict their locations and the time they were activated by Hubbard's or Henderson's phone. 20RP 2524; Ex. 74. Hughey explained that a blue or purple line appearing to connect each of the towers on the map was automatically generated by Google and did not indicate the route taken by the phones or have any other meaning. 20RP 2526, 2531.

Hubbard's cell phone records indicated that his phone hit a cell tower near the Citrus Lounge four minutes before the shooting. 20RP 2527. Minutes after the shooting, Hubbard's phone hit a tower in the SoDo area, south of Seattle's downtown. 20RP 2528. Minutes after that, the phone hit a tower farther south, near Tukwila. 20RP 2528. The next three cell phone towers activated by Hubbard's phone were all in Renton. 20RP 2528-29. Hubbard's phone continued to activate towers every few minutes, with each tower located farther south than the one before it, until the phone finally hit a tower in Tacoma at 2:53 a.m. 20RP 2529.

Henderson's cell phone records indicated that his phone also hit a cell tower near the Citrus Lounge shortly before the

shooting. 20RP 2530-31. Minutes after the shooting, Henderson's phone hit a tower in downtown Seattle. 20RP 2531. A few minutes later, Henderson's phone hit a tower in SoDo. 20RP 2531. Henderson's phone then hit towers in White Center, Tukwila, and Renton. 20RP 1532. Thus, like Hubbard's phone, Henderson's phone activated towers close to the Citrus Lounge just before the shooting, and then activated towers farther and farther south in the period following the shooting. 20RP 2533.

Although the clear inference from this evidence is that

Henderson's and Hubbard's phones were traveling southward
together immediately after the shooting, Detective Hughey was
careful to explain that the cell phone records could not show where
the cell phones actually were at any point:

- Q: Okay. Now, to be clear, a cell tower location, what information is that really giving you about the location of the cell phone?
- A: It does not give you an exact address of a cell phone. This isn't GPS pinging, as the movies might try to make you believe. It just means that the cell phone is within the cellular footprint of that tower, and as you move from one footprint to the next, you move between cell towers.
- Q: Okay. So it can't tell you where within the reception range of that cell tower that cell phone is standing?

A: No.

Q: Just that it's in the range of that cell tower?

A: Correct.

20RP 2523. Contrary to assertions in the Brief of Appellant,
Detective Hughey did not testify that he performed any "analysis,"
that he "electronically determine[d] that certain towers picked up
phone signals," or that he was able to "assess that Henderson's
and Hubbard's cell phones were at certain locations at certain
times." Brief of Appellant at 22. Nor did the detective claim that he
could use "calculations of the reception range of various cell
towers" to "determine the cell telephone locations at pertinent
times." Brief of Appellant at 22, 23.

Detective Hughey also testified about the cell phone records with respect to Hubbard's interview with police about the night of the shooting. Hubbard admitted that he was at the Citrus Lounge on the night of the shooting, and that he had driven there with Henderson. 23RP 2762-63. Hubbard claimed, however, that he left the lounge after the fight in the bar and before the shooting, when his child's mother reported that she was in labor in Tacoma. 23RP 2764-67. Hubbard said he drove straight to Tacoma by himself and made no stops. 23RP 2765, 2770. When Detective

Hughey confronted Hubbard with the cell phone records, which he told Hubbard was evidence that Hubbard and Henderson traveled south from Citrus together, Hubbard suggested that Henderson probably just left his phone in the car Henderson was driving.

23RP 2770-71.

After relating Hubbard's statements, Detective Hughey testified that the cell phone records indicated that Henderson's phone was being used for both incoming and outgoing calls during the time that the records indicated that Hubbard's phone was moving south. 23RP 2771-72. Although the inference that Hubbard's statement to police was false is clear, Hughey did not "assert that Kevin [Hubbard] was lying," as Hubbard claims. Brief of Appellant at 27.

Defense counsel objected in advance to Detective Hughey's testimony about the cell phone records on grounds that Hughey was not a qualified expert on these matters. 16RP 1995-2010.

Following the State's offer of proof, the trial court repeatedly attempted to elicit from defense counsel exactly what testimony required expertise. 16RP 1998, 2000, 2774. Defense counsel argued that an expert was required to testify about "how pings work and their accuracy." 16RP 2000. The State clarified that it was not

offering any evidence about "pinging," which is "real time GPS cell phone stuff. That's not what's happening here." 16RP 2001. Rather, the State explained, the evidence to be adduced was "literally the cell phone data from the cell phone data company ... which gives you the cell site that the phone hit at a specific time and then the location of all those cell sites." 16RP 2001. Given the cell phone records and a map, the jury could do the same thing on its own. 16RP 2002. The State further pointed out that defense counsel "is welcome to cross-examine Detective Hughey that this data doesn't tell him how close to the tower that person was, how far from the tower that person was, just that that is the tower that the person was hitting, and all other things being equal, you hit the closest tower within eyesight to your phone." 16RP 2001. Though somewhat concerned about the blue or purple lines that Google automatically generated on the maps, the trial court agreed that expert testimony was unnecessary:

Well, as to the locations of those towers, that's clearly shown on what I think are marked Exhibits 75 and 76, which I – and so simply typing that into a map feature or ... something like Google maps is something that anyone can do and I don't think takes expertise. And simply reflecting what time those towers were used in relation to a cell phone call again I don't think takes any expertise.

It's just based on – not to diminish Detective Hughey's role in creating that, but that's just data entry is really all I see that as. And so I'm concerned about the purple line, but if that line can be simply explained as, hey, that's the only way that I could create this map on Google maps, and if there's not an objection to that specifically, then I don't think I have a problem with the exhibits.

16RP 2007-08. Defense counsel reiterated his objection to "all of it" and was overruled. 16RP 2008-10.

Defense counsel objected again when Detective Hughey was asked how the cell phone records compared to Henderson's version of events. 23RP 2772. The State responded that Hughey would simply be pointing out places on the map, including the Citrus Lounge, the apartments at which Henderson said Hubbard had dropped him off, and Tacoma. 23RP 2773. Defense counsel argued that the maps already included "all sorts of things," like Federal Way, Kent, Burien, White Center, and Rainier Beach, and the jury did not need Detective Hughey to point anything else out on the map. 23RP 2774. Counsel argued that the State was improperly attempting to elicit testimony about where Hubbard and Henderson were based on the cell phone towers their phones activated. 23RP 2774-75. The State explained:

[N]ow that Mr. Hubbard's statement has been offered in and where he said he was at particular

times, I'm going to have the detective point out on those maps where the defendant indicated he was, through his statement to police, at particular times, in conjunction with the cell tower records.

And still, Detective Hughey is not going to be able to say, "This is where Mr. Hubbard was according to the phone tower records," but certainly the jury should be able to take a look at the cell tower records in conjunction with the defendant's statements and make that determination on their own, whether or not they believe Mr. Hubbard.

23RP 2776. In response to the trial court's concern whether the records, which did not establish Hubbard's exact location, were really relevant to impeach Hubbard's statement about where he was, the State further explained:

Because the cell tower records, while they can't tell you where someone specifically is, they can tell you where someone likely was not. And that's exactly what we're doing here with Mr. Hubbard. Hubbard is saying that he left the Citrus Club and drove straight to Tacoma. And on the same maps that the jury has [for] context, I would like Detective Hughey to point out where Tacoma is and what time [Hubbard] said he got there, so that they can judge for themselves, based on the circumstantial evidence of the cell tower records, whether or not they believe the defendant.

23RP 2777. The trial court again concluded that no expert testimony was necessary, stating, "I don't think that takes any expertise, other than just a familiarity of addresses and locations, to mark those on a map. And so I'll allow it." 23RP 2783.

Following that discussion, Detective Hughey used the maps to point out Henderson's apartment, the Citrus Lounge, and Tacoma. 23RP 2783-84. Defense counsel did not cross examine Detective Hughey about the cell phone records.

c. No Evidence Required Expert Testimony.

Hubbard relies on ER 701 and 702 to argue that Detective Hughey was improperly permitted to give opinion testimony.

Because the testimony of which Hubbard complains called for neither opinion nor expert explanation, this Court should reject the claim.

Evidence Rule 702 establishes when expert testimony is admissible:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

ER 702. The rule says nothing about when expert testimony is required.

Hubbard contends that expert testimony was necessary with respect to "the highly technical matter of cellular tower location analysis," and asserts that Detective Hughey was not qualified to

testify about whether or why a cell phone's signal would hit certain cell towers and not others. Brief of Appellant at 25. But there is no evidence that Hughey performed any kind of "analysis." Rather, all the detective did was plot the information from the cell phone records on a map. The properly-admitted records contained all of the information Hughey conveyed to the jury - when the call was placed, the cell tower it used upon the initiation of the call, the duration of the call, the cell tower used upon completion of the call, and the location of each cell tower. 20RP 2507-08, 2511, 2518-19. The fact that Hughey used Google to create a map to depict some of the same information visually does not require the testimony of an expert. And since all the information used to create the demonstrative exhibit was contained in the phone records previously admitted, the accuracy of the map was completely verifiable.

Hubbard asserts that Detective Hughey's testimony

"consisted of conclusory and speculative lay opinions, which were
lacking an adequate foundation and should not have been
admitted." Brief of Appellant at 26. But Hubbard does not identify
any such conclusory or speculative opinion. Presumably, Hubbard
is referring to testimony he claims Hughey gave about where

Hubbard's and Henderson's cell phones were located at certain times. But Hughey was clear that the records could not show the phones' locations at all. 20RP 2523. Hubbard may also be referring to his assertion that Hughey "used the cell tower analysis to assert that Kevin [Hubbard] was lying." Brief of Appellant at 27 (citing 23RP 2772, 2780-84). But Hughey never opined that Hubbard was lying, and although the State so argued in closing, that inference was supported by both the cell phone records and by Henderson's testimony.

Hubbard cites <u>United States v. Harrell</u>, 751 F.3d 1235 (11th Cir. 2014) for the proposition that cell tower evidence "has generally been viewed as" requiring expert testimony. Brief of Appellant at 26. But the <u>Harrell</u> court expressly declined to address that issue, and cited just two decisions that came to contradictory conclusions on it. <u>Id.</u> at 1243 ("We need not, in this case, decide whether a witness who is going to testify as Detective Jacobs did must qualify as an expert"). Rather, the issue was whether, having tendered the detective as an expert witness, the government adequately established by a preponderance of the evidence that the detective was indeed qualified as an expert. <u>Id.</u> Because the government had not carried that burden, the trial court abused its discretion in

allowing the detective to testify as an expert. <u>Id.</u> Nevertheless, the court determined that the error was harmless in light of a codefendant's testimony that Harrell participated in the crimes and the co-defendant's identification of Harrell in videos taken during the crimes. 751 F.3d at 1243-44.

Hubbard also cites <u>United States v. Yeley-Davis</u>, 632 F.3d 673 (10th Cir. 2011), for the proposition that a law enforcement officer's testimony about how cell towers work constitutes expert testimony. Careful reading of that case reveals that the testimony at issue there differs substantially from the testimony presented in this case. In <u>Yeley-Davis</u>, the agent testified that cell phone towers sometimes assign phones different telephone numbers for out-of-area calls to explain an apparent discrepancy in the records. <u>Id.</u> at 683-84. The court held that this was expert testimony because it involved specialized knowledge not readily accessible to any ordinary person. <u>Id.</u> at 684. The trial court abused its discretion because it failed to make necessary findings on the record about whether the agent was qualified as an expert. <u>Id.</u> at 685.

Unlike the agent in <u>Yeley-Davis</u>, Detective Hughey did not testify about how cell towers work. He merely plotted the location of the towers on a map along with the time each tower was

activated. The <u>Yeley-Davis</u> court implicitly acknowledged that this sort of data may be conveyed without expert testimony. In concluding that the error was harmless in that case, the court noted that the expert testimony about how towers change telephone numbers pertained to only three of 87 calls the agent had compiled. <u>Id.</u> at 685. Presumably, the error was harmless because records of the other 84 calls were properly admitted without expert testimony.

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